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HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDIN3S SURVEY -
SAINT ALOYSIUS ACADEMY HABS No. OH-2150

(Mount Aloysius)

Tile Plant Road (at Thern St.), Pike Township,
(New Lexington vicinity)Perry County, Ohio

USGS New Lexington Quadrangle, Universal Transverse
Mercator Coordinatetl 7. 24807, 1706310

Good Shepherd Manor 1nc.
Mount Aloysius

©27 3, High Strest
Suite 800

Columbus, Ohio 2215

dMount Aloysius

Administrative ¢ffices, dormitory, chapel and convent
for a scheol for mentally retarded and developmentally
disabled boys.

Mt. Aloysius ig historiczlly significant because it
served as an educational institution for children in
both New Lexington and the surrounding area for nezrly
a hundred years. It is also an example of the strong
Cathelic presence in Perry County.Mt. Aloysius ig also
an example of institutionzl architecture.The main
facility is designed in two distinct architectural
styles, French Second Empire and Late Gothic
Revival.The change in style from French Second Empire,
which is more appropiate for residential designs, to
Gothic seems to be an indicaticn of the firm
establishment of 5t. Aloysius Academy as an
educaticnal institution.
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PART I. HISTORICAL INFORMATION
A. Physical History:

1. Dates of erection: Original-Main building was built in 187&.
Main building addition was constructed in
1882 along with the convent and chapel.
The annex building wag constructed in
1827 and connected to the main building
via "Pigtail Alley" in 190%.
The west dormitory wing ard auditorium
were added in 1207,

-

2. Architects: Main building and 1852 additions ! not known
Annex : Sweeney Architects-Columbus Oh.
Dormitory wing : Ginther-Akron Oh.

3. Original and subsequent owners : References to the Chain of
Title to the land upon which the structure stands are in the
Office of the Recorder of Perry County, Perry County Court
House, New Lexington, Ohio.

1870 Deed recorded November 7, 1870, in book volume
#12,page 583.
Owen Donnelly
to
S.H. Rosencrans (Bishop of Columbus)

1856 Deed recorded October 28, 1886, book #35, page 9.
Silvester Rosencrans by John Purcell etal. - trustees
to
John A. Waterson (Bishop of Columbus)

1200 Deed recorded November 9, 1902, book #>, page 323.
John A. Wifzeson/(trustees)
to
Bishop Moeller (Columbus)

1902 Deed recorded October 27, 1802, book #60, page 60.
Bishop Moeller
to
Mother Gonzaga (Wilhelmine Brexel)

1921 Deed recorded August 20, 1921, book #115, page 134.
Mother Gonzaga .
to
Mother Cecilia Hidenkamp
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1921 Deed recorded August 14, 1931, book #11%5, page 125.
Mother Gerard Zimmersan and Sister Lima Dreckman
{(trustees of the Celi a Hidenkamp Estate)
to
the Buffalo Academy of the sacred Heart

12¢Y Leed recorded October 27,196%, book #20U, page &4,
Buffalo Acadmy of the Sacred Heart
tc
the Brothers of the Good Shepherd

RSN
-

Zuilder : dormitory wing - Showers and May (1207)

Criginzl plans and construction : No originzl drawing or
plan remain to date. Early drawing of the original main building
show the academy as a rectangular French Second Empire structurs
with a five-bay north facade and a very modest porch on the
center bay. The east facade is shown with four bays. The
original center hallway and staircase remain today as secondar;
access within the main building.

ol
.

6. Alterations and additions : The first addition to the main
building came as a result of damage from a tornado in June,
1881, Qutside walls were cracked and enough structual damage
. occured that an addition was planned for both expansion and
repair of damaged sections. The addition included the present
main entrance and main staircase. The French Second Empire
design was replicated in the addition of three bsys to the northr
facade.
The second additicn to the academy was the present chapel and
covent. By 1890 there was a need for additional dormitory space,
a gtudy hall, music room, and a larger chapel. Construction
actually began in 18390 on the 3 1/2 story convent and chapel,
which is really a small gothic church. The addition was under
roof in 18891 and the interior was finished and dedicated in May,
1822. An 1895 photograph shows the convent and chapel to have
the same apperance as present with the exception of the
sanctuary which was expanded at a later date.
The third addition was actually built as a separate annex in
18¢7. The annex was to contain a laundry, class rooms, dining
roor, and storage. Being separate from the main building
proved a problem during poor weather.
The fourth addition was a 2 story structure built to connect the
annex to the main building and to provide additicnal bedrooms.
In the fall of 1806 thirteen Puerto Rican girls arrived to
attend St. Alovsius. Because all the girls wore their hair in a
braid fashion and some occupied the small bedrooms of the annex
it was christened "Pigtail alley" and the name remained until
S the present. There is evidence of a porch extending almost the
. . _ entire length of "Pigtail Alley" which has been removed in favor
L of. 2 small covering over the entrance door and steps.
The fifth addition was the dormitory wing in 1907. This was a
necessity because of the large increease in the number of
boarders at the academy.
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6. Alterations & additions(cont.)

The sixth addition was the construction of the auditorium
east of the dormitory in 190%.

Also in 1205, the larze front porch was added onto the main
building.

The last addition/alteration was the expansion of the
chapel sanctuary in 19z4.

B, Historical Context:

In 2270 a fzrmer by the name of Owen Donrelly, living near Hew
Lexington, Ohio, offered hic farw t¢ the kozt Reverend
Sylvester H. Rosencrans, Bishop ¢f Columbus, on the conditicr
thet it be used for a school. The offer was gladly accepted by
the Eishop, and Father Francis Neoitrier, then pastor of St.
Rose Church, New Lexington, was told to begin and to
superintend the erection of an academy on the site. Four years
later the academy was not yet complete for lack of funds,

When it was known to Bishop Rosencrans that many of the
educational establishments directed by the Franciscan Gisters
of Penance and Christian Charity in Germany were being closed
by the Prussian Government, the Bishop asked Mother Aloysia
Lenders, Mother General of the Sisters, to allow her religious
order to take charge of the academy at New Lexington. In 1872 a
group of six Sisters, led by Mother Sonzaga Brexel arrived from
Konitz, Germany.

It is interesting to note that old historical maps of the
i870 s show that the name of the academy was to be "Saint
Euginia", a name which Mother Gonzaga changed to "Saint
Aloysius' no doubt because of her friendship with Mother
Aloysia Lender, the first Franciscan Sister of her Order to
arrive in America.

The trip to New lexington was a revelation to Mother Gonzaga.
Any illusions which she and her Sisters might have perhaps
cherished were dashed. Upon arrival they found Father MNoitrier
engaged in a number of law suits concerning payments to be made
for labour and materizl. It was nearly & year before the
building was completed and the Sisters could move into sparsly
furnished guarters. On Saint Francis Day, 1876, the building
was at last dedicated and ready to accept students. Mother
Gonzaga was to labour for 28 years in the house she had
founded.

In June, 1881, a tornado swept over Perry County which caused a
great deal of damage to the outer walls of the building. This
event, which greatly distressed everyone at the time, was
really a blessing in disguise, for it made it necessary for the
Sistersi te build; had the walls not been damaged, expansion might

not have occurred.
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Thie first addition to the original building comprised on ths
first flcor, the present entrance hall and stairway, the two
reception rooms and one classroom which was also the
auditorium; on the second floor the children’s dormitory, guss
rc:ma and infirmary; on the third floor, dormitory and
wardrobe. 1t was completed in July 1882. No further additions
were madeuntil 1837 when the present chapel foundations were
lzidg. 17 was completed and dedicated by Bishop Watterson in
May, 1832, On November 19, 1900, Bishop Moeller blesszed the
present bell which had been presented by Mother Gonzapa s

nerhew, and which was christensdé "Joseph Elizabeth." In 1377
excavatiomwere begun for the dormitory wing of the building.
The present front porch and the now wing rave

ascdltionzl clazsroom space, dermitories, a socizl hall, and a
auditorium. In 1924 under the direction of Mother Dorthy
Ortmeyer, the present sanctuary was added to the chapel and
windeows were ordered from Munich, Germany. A white marble
altar, imported from Italy, was presented to the academy by the
Alumnae for the golden jubilee year,

Nesding additional space, the Sisters constructed a new
academic building in 1968 consisting of classrooms and a
gyonasium, ’

Saint Aloysius Military School and Academy was estaklished in
182% as a boarding school for boys and to provide elementary
gscheol education from the third through eighth grade. For its
first 72 yvears, Saint Aloysius Academy High School remained a
school for girls., In 1948 as a result of a growing need for a
parochial high school for boys in the New Lexington area, the
high schocl was opened to boys.

Beczuse of a decline in student enrcllment and changing
circumstances within the educational field, the Sisters decidsd
to close the Saint Aloysius in 12889. The future of the building
seertad doomed. However, it was not long after the Academy
closed that the Brothers of the Good Shepherd were contacted to
see if the building could be used in their work with the
phy=zically and mentally handicapped. After several months of
negotiations, the properties were purshased by the Brothers and
on hovember 1,126%¢ & new phase in the life of Saint Aloysius
Academy was begun. The name "Aloysius'" was retained in this new
work becauge of ite significance.

PART 1I. ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION
A. Gensral Statement:
1. Architectural character: The structure is a combination of
the French 2nd Empire style (main building) and Late Gothic

Revival (convent, chapel, dormitory & auditorium). Situated
on a hilltop
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7. Condition of fabric: The exterior brick masonry ic fairly
sound although there are several areas exhibiting water
damage and cdetiorating mortar. The roo! is in generally
poor condition with leaks and water damags evident
throughout the building., The interior ig in fair to gocd
conditon, apart from water damage. Most of the original
interior elements remain,

B. Descripticen of Exterior:

i1, Overall dimencsions: The entire building is 477" in overall
length and 2277 in depth. The plan is irregular and
asymictrical. Most of the wings are tws & one half and
three story builaings with full bascnents. The original
mzin building zad lst addition are basiczllv "L shanad;
"Piptaili ziley"” is a long rectangular wing shape; the annex
is nearly square; the convent is rectangular; the chapel
has an irregular "T" shape; the dormitory wing is basically
"L" shaped:; and the auditorium is rectanecular,
The main building has an eight bay facade; the convent -
three bay; the chapel - eight bay; the dormitory - three
bay; and the auditorium - five bay front elevation.
The main building, chapel, annex, and auditcrium each have
twe & one half stories; "Pigtail alley" - two stories; and
convent and dormitory - three & one half stories,

(K]

. Foundations: Rock-faced stone, thickness not known. The
original building has a brick foundation with stone
watertable,

93]

. Walls: All are solid, red brick. The main building, convent
and chapel utilize a common or Américan bond, while the
armmex, '"'Pigtail alley", dormitory wing and auditorium
utilize a running bond, The chapel walls are butressed as
are the convent walls. The main building has giant order
brick pilasters.

4, Structural system: Exterior walls and major partition walls
are brick, load bearing.

5. Porches: The main entrance to the building is through the
85" x 12  porch. It has decorative tile flooring and stone
Tuscan columns. A dentiled entablature supports a flat roof.

£. Chimneygs: All chimneye are brick and of plain design. The
main building has twelve chimneys, each extending from the
mansard roof and in line with the pilasters below,
The convent has four chimneys, each
in line with a buttress and behind parapeted gables.
The chapel has three chimneys, che on each
gide behind parapeted gables and a large one on the rear
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Chimneys (cont.):
side . The anricx has one on ite rear woll

The dormitory wing has three chimneys, one

incerporated into the rear gable parapet and
two nitsched to the gable pmrapet or th: gide, conter torer.

A4

upenlings: -

Dozrwayes and doors! Thers are surprisingly few extericr
deorwzve for the size of the structure. Host duplicate
exigting window configuraticn or zre converted windos
cperinge. The main entrance is round zrched (as are the
window's on this side) with a transom and double, lighted
doors. Th: :ear doorway is rouns arche ,duplicating the
windows,wvith a modern lighted docr.

The convent has a ground level,
basement doorway in a gothic arched opening ,a wide -
segmentzl arched doorway (fop and side lighted) with a
flat topped solid door, and threc gothic
arched doorways, two with arched dccrs and one
top-lighted with a flat topped door. All of these exit
to a rear fire escape.The chapel has one large exterior
doorway with a stone hoodmold. All remaininz
doorways are flat-topped without decorative treatment.

b.Windows: The main building window openings are brick

round arches on the first two stories and wood

_sepmental arched dormersg in the mansard roof. All

windows were originally two-over—-two light, double-hungz
sach, Most windows in the
convent and chapel are gothic arched, with brick head
treatments. The convent windows are one-over—one gash
windows.The front facade of the convent has segmental
arched windows on the ground and first floors with
ground flcor wooden casement windows.

There are two circle-in-triangle dormer windows in the
convent roof Annex windows are segmentzl arched with
brick head treatment, but with flat-topped one—over-ons

light windows. Mogt dormitory wing windows are
flat—topped, stone linteled windows with a mixture of
one-cgver—chne and four—over-four double~hung wood
sash, There are several gothic arched
windows in the gabled ends of the building,and facing
the main building are seéveral circle—in—-arch wooden
casement windows with pgothic arches and brick head
treatments. The auditorium's gothic arched,
paired windowg are actually one-over—one double hung
sach windows with flat stone lintels topped with gothic
arches,
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a. Shape, covering: All roofs are slate shingled. Main
building - mansard with decorative slate shingles,

Convent and chapel - rable | Annex - truncated
hip and gable ; dormitory wing — gambrel ; and
auditerium - hip.

L. Corndce, saves 1 The wain building hag z woud cornice of
plain design which incorporates the gutter system,,

The convent and chapel have corbeled brick
cornices. The dermitory wing and
auditorium have an arcading corbel cornice with standzrd
metal gutters.,

c. Dormers, towerst: Tne convent, chapel, and dormitory wing
ezch have parapsted gables which form a crore design in
the roof lines. In addition
the convent has & pair of trianglar dormers,

The bell tower of the chapel is square with a
pinnacle (tops now remcved) on each corner, and an eight
sided rpoof rising to a cross/spire. There are brick, stone-
capped pinnacles on the northern corners of the dormitory
wing.

T

€., Dezzription of Interior:
1. Floor plans: see page 11

. Stairways: Stair in entrance hall has turned balusters,
elaborate newel post and decorated risers.

3. Flooring: Original mosaic tile floor coverings exist in
the main building, convent, and chapel.

The chapel sanctuary
hzs a terrazo floor with golden, mosaic tile inlay.

4, Wall and ceiling finish: The chapel interior has g rib-
vaulted ceiling with a smooth plaster finish. The
original metal ceiling is still visible in the main
building entranceway,

(2]
-

Openings .
z. Doorways: The standard doorway throughout the building
iz a segmental arched opening.
b. Windows: setained glass windows in the chapel, imported
from Munich, Germany. See exterior description.
&. Decorative features: Marble altar and gothic detailing in
. ' chapel, tile floors, main staircase.
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Site:

1. General setting and orientatior: Mount Aloysius is located
o a hilltop just northwest of kew Lexington, Ohio. The
country side consiste of gently rolling hills. Mount
Aloyiiue is approached frox Thorn Bt, which intersects Tile
Flant Rd. acrosc from the long driveway which climbs the
hill to the inetitution. Conifers line the front vard zresz.
The building faces northeast.

Z, Fistoric landscape design: No records exist of original
lzndsceape design. Walks, shubbery, and treces currently in
rlace are shown on page 12.

PART I7. SOUECES QF IiFORVATION

A.

Architectural draving: No originazl drawings exist. A 1/18"=1"
fl:zr plan is retained by Good Shepherd Wanor Inc.

Historic views: A 1376 pamphlet tracing the history of Mount
Alcvsius with photographs by Gene Woolfe s Studio in New
Lexington is retained by the Brothers of the Good Shepherd. An
1527 photograph of 5t. Aloyvsius and an amateur drawing of the
original building appeared in a series of newspaper articles,
The articles dated March 30, 1983 through August 10, 1983
apreared in the Perry County Tribune, New Lexingtori, CGhio.

Interviews: Historic information was provided by Brother
Michael Carlyle, Brothers of the Good Shepherd, March, 1985 at
Mount Alovsius.

Bitliography.

1. Secondary and published sources:

"The House on the Hill", Perry County Tribune: New
Lexington, Ohic, March 30 through August 10, 1383,

"Mount Aloysius 1876 — 1976" a centenial celebration
pamphlet: New lexington, Ohio, 18976.
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PROJECT INFORNMATION

Mount Alovsiuz iz being funded by the Farrers Home
Adrinistratizn for the construction of & new intermedizate cars
fecility {or mentally retardec. The now facgiliity ig to be
built on the site of the current Mount Aloysius facility, thus
rejquiring ite demolitien. A condition of the Msnorandum of
Agreement dated September, 193> authorizes the implementaticorn
of the undertalkiing. A condition of the Memorandum of Agresment
wze HAPS documentation of the structure, since it had been
det=rwined eligible for the Kational Register of Historic
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